
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES FOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY (PEER)  
2000 P Street, NW, Suite 240      
Washington, DC 20036 
 

Plaintiff,  
 

v.                                                                                              Civil Action No. 
 
UNITED STATES ARMY CORPS 
OF ENGINEERS (USACE) 
Vicksburg District 
4155 Clay Street 
Vicksburg, MS 39183 
 

Defendant. 
 

COMPLAINT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1.  This is an action brought under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § 552, as 

amended, to compel the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“USACE”) to grant Plaintiff’s 

FOIA fee waiver request and to disclose documents withheld based USACE’s improper denial of 

Plaintiff’s request for a fee waiver.  FOIA requires that federal agencies respond to public 

requests for documents, including files maintained electronically, in order to increase public 

understanding of the workings of government and access to government information.  FOIA also 

requires that FOIA fees be waived or reduced if disclosure of the requested information is in the 

public interest and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester.  5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(4)(A)(iii). 
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2.  Plaintiff Public Employees for Environmental Responsibility (“PEER”) is a non-profit 

organization with tax-exempt status dedicated to research and public education concerning the 

activities and operations of the federal government.  Plaintiff requested records concerning 

Hurricane Katrina recovery efforts in Mississippi overseen by the USACE; in particular, 

compliance with safety and contractual requirements by Corps contractors and subcontractors, 

Corps compliance with the requirements of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 

(Clean Water Act), and potentially retaliatory action taken against an employee who raised safety 

and environmental concerns to his superiors. 

 
3.  Disclosure of the requested information is in the public interest, particularly citizens of the 

Gulf Coast area, because the environmental and safety concerns caused by Hurricane Katrina 

have a significant impact on those citizens.  The public as a whole would also benefit from the 

requested disclosure by gaining insight into governmental responses to natural disasters.  This 

information may be useful for other emergency situations.  The requested information may also 

elucidate whether retaliatory action was taken against Mr. Michael Daily for voicing his 

concerns with the recovery effort.  Disclosure of this information is in the public interest because 

retaliation against government employees for attempting to implement environmental and safety 

protocols is in direct conflict with the public’s safety and interest. 

 
4.  By letter dated March 7, 2007, Plaintiff submitted a FOIA request (Attachment 1 hereto), 

including a fee waiver request, to USACE, which designated it FOIA Request No. 07-23.  By 

letter dated April 2, 2007 (Attachment 2 hereto), USACE acknowledged receipt of Plaintiff’s 

FOIA request and denied Plaintiff’s request for a fee waiver.  Despite denying the fee waiver, 

USACE enclosed three (3) documents regarding a smoldering mulch pile incident in an attempt 
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to show, as the April 2, 2007 letter claimed, that the incident “did not have any environmental 

impacts and was of no significant interest to the general population.”  The smoldering mulch pile 

incident in question was the subject of only a portion of Plaintiff’s FOIA request.   

 
5.  In the April 2, 2007 letter, USACE deemed PEER a “commercial” user responsible for 

search, review and duplication costs.  The letter stated that “a full search of the documents in 

your FOIA request would be a considerable effort[,]” and added that it would pursue the request 

only if PEER would pay the impliedly significant costs incurred.   

 
6.  In a detailed letter dated June 1, 2007 (Attachment 3 hereto), Plaintiff appealed USACE’s fee 

waiver denial. USACE acknowledged receipt of this appeal by letter dated June 22, 2007.  Over 

one year has passed and there has been no further communication from USACE regarding the 

appeal and no further production of documents responsive to Plaintiff’s FOIA Request No. 07-

23.  PEER treats this failure to respond as a constructive denial of its fee waiver request and thus 

its FOIA request as well.  

 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B).  This Court 

also has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction). 

 
8.  This Court has the authority to grant declaratory relief under the Declaratory Judgment Act, 

28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq. 

 
9.  This Court has the authority to award costs and attorney’s fees under 28 U.S.C. § 2414 and 5 

U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(E). 
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10.  Venue is properly vested in this Court under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) because the Plaintiff 

resides and has its principal place of business in this district. 

 
PARTIES 

11.  Plaintiff PEER is a non-profit public interest organization, with its main office located in 

Washington, D.C., and field offices located in California, Colorado, Florida, Massachusetts, New 

Mexico, New Jersey, and Tennessee. 

 
12.  PEER is not a commercial enterprise for purposes of the fee waiver provision of FOIA.  See 

5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(4)(A)(iii).  Among other public interest projects, PEER engages in advocacy, 

research, education, and litigation relating to the promotion of public understanding and debate 

concerning key current public policy issues, focusing on the environment, public lands and 

natural resources management, public funding of environmental and natural resource agencies, 

and ethics in government. 

 
13.   Informing the public about these important public policy issues is central to PEER’s 

mission.  PEER educates and informs the public through news releases to the media; PEER’s 

website, www.peer.org, which draws between 1,000 and 10,000 viewers per day; and PEER’s 

newsletter which has a circulation of approximately 20,000, including 1,500 environmental 

journalists. 

 
14.  USACE  is an agency of the United States as defined by 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1), which serves 

the Armed Forces and the Nation by providing engineering services through military and civilian 

biologists, engineers, geologists, hydrologists, natural resource managers and other professionals.   
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15.   USACE’s duties include planning, designing, building and operating water resources and 

other civil works projects serving navigation, flood control, environmental protection and 

disaster response. 

 
16.  As an agency of the United States, USACE is charged with the duty to provide public access 

to documents in its possession consistent with the requirements of the FOIA and the fee waiver 

provisions contained therein. 

 
FACTS 

17.  On March 7, 2007, Plaintiff filed a FOIA request (Attachment 1) with the USACE seeking 

documents relating to USACE and contractor environmental and safety compliance issues, and 

potential retaliatory action against an employee who raised environmental and safety concerns, 

during Hurricane Katrina recovery efforts in Mississippi.  Citing 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(4)(A), 

Plaintiff also requested that all fees be waived because “disclosure of the information is in the 

public interest…and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requestor.”   

 
18.  Specifically, Plaintiff requested:  (1)  Documents relating to reports of violations of USACE 

safety protocol and contractual requirements by Ashbritt, Inc. (a private environmental services 

company) and its subcontractors between November 2005 and January 2006; (2) All documents 

containing information regarding action taken by USACE following reports of violations related 

to the subject of the first request above, including explanations for specific action taken or 

decisions not to act; (3) Documents containing information related to the decision of Ms. Teresa 

Morales to fill a pond with smoldering mulch (the “smoldering mulch incident”) in early January 

2006 and the implementation of this decision; documents related to the reasons for acting 

without a permit under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act; and any documents related to 
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communications or consultations, or the lack thereof, with the Environmental Protection Agency 

about this incident; (4) any records of discussions between Ms. Morales and other Corps officials 

regarding Mr. Michael Daily’s concerns about the USACE’s compliance with the Clean Water 

Act and his performance related to the smoldering mulch incident; and (5) Documents reflecting 

or containing information regarding the decision to transfer Mr. Michael Daily from Hurricane 

Katrina recovery efforts in Mississippi on January 10, 2006, including specific documentation of 

all incidents cited as reasons for his transfer -- including the smoldering mulch incident, Daily’s 

complaints about safety and contractual violations by Ashbritt, and any complaints about his 

behavior by co-workers or superiors.   

 
19.  By letter dated April 2, 2007 (Attachment 2) USACE, through District Counsel Henry H. 

Black, acknowledged receipt of Plaintiff’s FOIA request and assigned it FOIA Request No. 07-

23.  In that same letter, USACE denied Plaintiff’s fee waiver request under 5 U.S.C. 

§552(a)(4)(A)(iii), stating that “no other organization or person has made any of the type [of] 

allegations made in your letter.  Therefore, the documents you seek do not provide significant 

information in the public interest.”  USACE classified Plaintiff as a “commercial” user required 

to pay search, review, and duplication costs, and stated that “a full search of the documents in 

your FOIA request would be a considerable effort.”  April 2, 2007 Letter.  USACE added that 

upon receipt of a willingness to pay letter from PEER, District Counsel Henry H. Black would 

initiate a search for responsive documents.  USACE also advised Plaintiff of its right to appeal 

the fee waiver determination.   

 
20.  In the April 2, 2007 letter, USACE contended the smoldering mulch incident did not have 

any environmental impact and is of no significant interest to the general population.  Purportedly 
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to prove this, USACE produced three documents relating to the smoldering mulch incident.  

Each of the three was entitled:  Daily SIT-REP, Brookhaven Debris Resident Office, Lincoln, 

Pike, and Walthall Counties and each was filed by T. Morales.  They were dated January 8, 9, 

and 10, 2006.  

 
21.  The January 8, 2006 SIT-REP includes a description of the discovery of the smoldering 

mulch pile and the procedure used to secure county and state agency approval to put the 

smoldering mulch in a large detention pond located at the Brookhaven Landfill.  

 
22.  The January 9, 2006 SIT-REP states that the fire in the mulch was extinguished, and that 

some of the mulch pile was placed in a detention pond “per the County’s request and MDEQ’s 

[Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality] approval.”  It also claims that Mr. Daily was 

removed from a QA [Quality Assurance] supervisory role due to “continued complaints from 

subcontractors and fellow QA.’s”  and describes a conflict between Mr. Daily and Ms. Morales 

where the two purportedly exchanged words about Mr. Daily’s assignment to monitor what was 

left of the smoldering mulch pile.   

 
23.  The January 10, 2006 SIT-REP states Mr. Daily was dismissed for insubordination.  The 

report indicates a memo was written to detail the issue.  USACE did not provide Plaintiff with 

this memo in response to the FOIA request. 

 
24.  The April 2, 2007 letter only vaguely addressed the portions of PEER’s request not related 

to the smoldering mulch incident, and failed to explain why a fee waiver was denied with respect 

to those portions.  The letter merely stated that prior reviews of the Katrina relief effort by 

Congress, GAO reports, and Department of Defense and Corps audit agencies had not 
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discovered any environmental damage caused by the relief effort, and that no other organization 

or person had made the type of “allegations” PEER made in its request.  The portions of PEER’s 

request unrelated to the smoldering mulch incident included requests for reports of violations of 

USACE safety protocol and contractual requirements by Ashbritt, Inc. and its subcontractors 

between November 2005 and January 2006; documents containing information regarding action 

taken by USACE following reports of violations related to Ashbritt’s operations in the relevant 

time period, including explanations for specific action taken or decisions not to act;  and 

documentation of all incidents other than the smoldering mulch incident and any complaints 

about Mr. Daily’s behavior by co-workers or superiors which were cited as reasons for his 

transfer.   

 
25.  Even with regard to the smoldering mulch incident, the April 2, 2007 letter and the 

documents supplied did not respond to portions of Plaintiff’s FOIA request, such as 

documentation concerning Daily’s concerns about USACE’s compliance with the Clean Water 

Act, and any communication, or explanation for the lack thereof, with the Environmental 

Protection Agency about the smoldering mulch incident.   No explanation was given as to denial 

of the fee waiver for these portions of the request.   

 
26.  By letter dated June 1, 2007, Plaintiff appealed USACE’s denial of the fee waiver. 

(Attachment 3).  Plaintiff provided detailed arguments for why its FOIA request satisfied the 

requirements for a fee waiver under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii), specifically how the request 

contributes significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the 

government, and how in no sense would disclosure of the requested documents serve a 

commercial interest of PEER – a non-profit organization dedicated to upholding the public trust 
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through responsible management of the nation’s resources and supporting professional integrity 

within government agencies.    

 
27.  USACE acknowledged Plaintiff’s letter of appeal in a correspondence dated June 22, 2007 

and indicated that it had forwarded Plaintiff’s FOIA appeal package on June 21, 2007 to the 

Office of the Chief Counsel in Washington, DC.    

 
28.  Plaintiff has received no further communication from USACE regarding the denial of the fee 

waiver appeal.  Plaintiff never heard anything from the Office of the Chief Counsel. 

 
29.  USACE did not provide a cogent response to Plaintiff’s detailed June 1, 2007 appeal, nor did 

it provide the requested documents.  In doing so, USACE failed to meet the twenty (20) day limit 

FOIA imposes for responding to an appeal.  See 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(A)(iii).   

 
30.  It has been well over one year since Plaintiff initiated its March 7, 2007 FOIA request and 

asked for a fee waiver.  It has now also been over one year since Plaintiff appealed USACE’s 

denial of Plaintiff’s fee waiver request.  This is more than adequate time for USACE to provide a 

cogent response to Plaintiff’s appeal, and far more time than that legally required under FOIA.    

 
31.  Plaintiff has fully exhausted its administrative remedies under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C) for its 

FOIA request, and now turns to this Court to enforce the remedies and public access to agency 

records guaranteed by FOIA. 

 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I:  Violation of the Freedom of Information Act 

32.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegation in paragraphs 1 through  31.   
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33.  USACE’s denial of Plaintiff’s request for a fee waiver is in violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(4)(A)(iii).  

Count II:  Violation of the Freedom of Information Act 

34.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 31. 

 
35.  USACE’s failure to disclose the requested documents is a violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 

552. 

Count III:  Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 

36.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 31. 

 
37.  USACE’s failure to disclose documents responsive to Plaintiff’s request constitutes agency 

action unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed, in violation of the Administrative 

Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 – 706.  USACE’s failure in this matter is arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, not in accordance with the law and without observance of 

procedure required by law, all in violation of the APA.  

 
RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests and prays that this Court: 

i. Enter an Order declaring that USACE has wrongfully denied Plaintiff’s fee 

waiver request; 

ii. Enter an Order declaring that USACE has wrongfully withheld the requested 

agency records; 

iii. Issue a permanent injunction directing USACE to disclose to Plaintiff all 

wrongfully withheld documents without any requirement to pay search or copying 

fees; 
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iv. Maintain jurisdiction over this action until USACE is in compliance with FOIA, 

APA, and every order of this Court; 

v. Award Plaintiff its attorney fees and costs pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E); 

and  

vi. Grant such additional and further relief to which Plaintiff may be entitled. 

 
 
Dated: Washington, D.C.  
August 1, 2008 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
______________________________ 
Paula Dinerstein, DC Bar No. 333971 
Senior Counsel 
Public Employees for Environmental Responsibility 
2000 P Street, NW, Suite 240 
Washington, D.C. 20036 
(202) 265-7337 
 
____________________________________ 
Adam E. Draper, DC Bar No. 974880 
Staff Counsel 
Public Employees for Environmental Responsibility 
2000 P Street, NW, Suite 240 
Washington, D.C. 20036 
(202) 265-7337 

 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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